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October 1, 2019 
 
VIA CERTIFIED MAIL 
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 
 
JBS-Swift Beef Company 
800 North 8th Ave. 
Greeley, Colorado 80631 
 
Andre Nogueira 
President and Chief Executive Office 
JBS USA  
1770 Promontory Circle 
Greeley, Colorado 80634 
 

Re: Notice of Violations and Intent to Sue under the Clean Air Act  
 
Through counsel at Public Justice, the Center for Biological Diversity and Food & Water 

Watch hereby notify you of their intent to file civil litigation against JBS-Swift Beef Company 
and JBS USA (collectively “JBS-Swift Beef”) over ongoing violations of the Clean Air Act, or 
CAA.  JBS-Swift Beef is the owner and/or operator of the cattle slaughter and beef processing 
facility, known as the Greeley Integrated Rendering Plant (the “Plant”), located at 800 North 8th 
Street in Greeley, Colorado.  JBS-Swift Beef is responsible for the Plant’s air emissions and 
operates the Plant under an air permit known as Permit No. 95WE757 (the “Air Permit”), which 
was issued by the Air Pollution Control Division (APCD) of the Colorado Department of Public 
Health and Environment.  The Air Permit covers several points of emission at the Plant.  As 
detailed below, JBS-Swift Beef is violating terms and conditions of the Air Permit and 
accordingly the Clean Air Act.  At the expiration of sixty days from the date of this letter, the 
Center for Biological Diversity and Food & Water Watch intend to file suit under the CAA’s 
citizen suit provision, 42 U.S.C. § 7604(a), and will seek declaratory and injunctive relief, civil 
penalties, and all other relief authorized by law. 
 
I. CLEAN AIR ACT REQUIREMENTS  
 
  The Clean Air Act is designed to “protect and enhance the quality of the Nation’s air 
resources so as to promote the public health and welfare and productive capacity of its 
population.” 42 U.S.C. § 7401(b)(1).  It requires the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to 
establish primary and secondary national ambient air quality standards (or NAAQS) for those 
pollutants that EPA has issued air quality criteria. 42 U.S.C. §§ 7408, 7409.  Ground-level ozone 
pollution—commonly referred to as smog—results when airborne “volatile organic compounds” 
(VOCs) and nitrogen oxides react with sunlight.  EPA has identified ozone as a “criteria” 
pollutant and has promulgated ozone NAAQS. 40 C.F.R. §§ 50.9, 50.10 and 50.19.   
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EPA designates areas within state boundaries that must achieve the NAAQS.  Areas 
within a state that meet the air quality standards for a particular pollutant are designated 
“attainment” areas and areas that do not meet the standards are designated “nonattainment” 
areas. 42 U.S.C. § 7407(d)(1)(A)(i).  Unclassifiable areas are treated the same as an attainment 
area. Id. § 7407(d)(1)(A)(iii).  The Denver Metro-North Front Range area is classified as non-
attainment for ozone.  This area includes Greeley.   
 

The Clean Air Act is implemented jointly by EPA and the states.  It requires each state to 
adopt and submit to EPA for approval a State Implementation Plan, or SIP. 42 U.S.C. § 7410.  
SIPs provide the mechanism for states to ensure compliance with the air quality standards, id. § 
7410(a)(2)(A), § 7502(c)(6), with EPA’s role reserved for approving or disapproving SIPs and 
taking action when a state’s SIP is found inadequate or missing required elements.  Once 
approved by EPA, SIPs become federal law and are enforceable under the Clean Air Act. See 42 
U.S.C. §§ 7413, 7604; 40 C.F.R. § 52.23.  EPA has approved elements of Colorado’s State 
Implementation Plan, 40 C.F.R. § 52.320(c), which is set forth in state regulations implementing 
the Colorado Air Pollution Prevention and Control Act, C.R.S. §§ 25-7-101 et seq. 
 

Colorado’s SIP contains an emissions-reporting requirement.  That provision provides 
that no existing, new, or modified stationary source can emit air pollution without submitting an 
Air Pollution Emission Notice (APEN) to Colorado’s Air Pollution Control Division. 5 C.C.R. § 
1001-5:3A.II(A) (“[N]o person shall allow emission of air pollutants from, or construction, 
modification or alteration of, any facility, process, or activity which constitutes a stationary 
source…from which air pollutants are, or are to be, emitted unless and until an Air Pollutant 
Emission Notice…has been filed with the Division with respect to such emission.”).  This 
requirement applies to sources within nonattainment areas and to each emission point at a 
stationary source that releases one (1) ton or more per year of a criteria pollutant, like VOCs, in a 
nonattainment area. 5 C.C.R. § 1001-5:3A.II(B)(3)(a).  For reporting purposes, a facility can use 
actual emission data or apply an appropriate method to estimate emissions. 5 C.C.R. § 1001-
5:3A.II(B)(1).  APENs must detail the quantity and composition of a facility’s emissions, the 
location of the emissions, the name and address of the persons who operate and own the facility, 
the nature of the facility, process or activity, and other information required by the applicable 
APEN form.  APEN must be revised when a significant change in operations occurs. 5 C.C.R. § 
1001-5:3A.II(C). 
 

Colorado’s SIP imposes a pre-construction permit requirement. 5 C.C.R. § 1001-
5:3B(II)(A)(1) (“[N]o person shall commence construction of any stationary source or 
modification of a stationary source without first obtaining or having a valid construction 
permit.”).  All sources that annually emit at least two (2) tons per year of VOCs in nonattainment 
areas trigger the “minor source” permitting requirement. 5 C.C.R. § 1001-5:3B(II)(A)(4); 5 
C.C.R. § 1001-5:3B(II)(D)(2)(a).  These permits must ensure that the source’s emissions do not 
cause an exceedance of the ozone air quality standard and that the source implements 
“reasonably available control technology.” 5 C.C.R. § 1001-5:3B(III)(D)(1)(c), (d) & § 1001-
5:3B(III)(D)(2). 
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Colorado’s EPA-approved SIP also contains a construction permit requirement for new 
and modified “major” sources. 5 C.C.R. § 1001-5:3D.I(A).  “Any new major stationary source or 
major modification…shall not begin actual construction in a nonattainment area…unless a 
permit has been issued...” Id.  A source is a major source when it actually emits or has the 
potential-to-emit 100 tons per year of VOCs or nitrogen oxides in a “moderate” ozone 
nonattainment area, or 50 tons per year in a “serious” ozone nonattainment area. 5 C.C.R. § 
1001-5:3D.II(A)(25)(b).  Major sources of pollution are required to implement or install 
emission controls—known in nonattainment areas as the “lowest achievable emission rate”—and 
offset their emissions at the applicable rate. 5 C.C.R. § 1001-5:3D.V(A)(1) & (3).  
 
 Violations of the CAA and air permits are enforceable through the Act’s citizen suit 
provision. 42 U.S.C. § 7604(a); id. § 7604(f) (defining “emissions standard or limitation” to 
include permit terms and conditions).  For certain violations, this provision requires citizens to 
send a notice letter to the owners, operators, and permittees of a violating facility, EPA, and the 
state before bringing suit. Id. § 7604(b).  A citizen suit may proceed to federal court sixty days 
after the notice letter, unless either EPA or the relevant state has commenced and is diligently 
prosecuting a civil action in federal or state court. 42 U.S.C. § 7604(b)(1).  As required by the 
CAA, this letter provides notice of the violations that are occurring at the Plant. 
 
II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
 
 In addition to slaughtering cattle and processing meat, the Plant preserves hides for 
market.  It does so by soaking the hides in a saltwater bath.  This process generates a wastewater 
that for years has been piped, along with slaughterhouse wastes, to the Lone Tree Wastewater 
Treatment Plant (WWTP).  For each quarter between January 2014 and December 2018, 
discharges from the WWTP into Lone Tree Creek violated JBS-Swift Beef’s Clean Water Act 
permit due to the salt-brine wastewater from hides processing.   
 

To address the water pollution problem, JBS-Swift Beef purchased and installed a “salt 
evaporator” at the Plant.  The evaporator uses a 9.9 MMbtu/hr natural-gas burner that shoots a 
flame into a submerged tube within the evaporator’s tank.  Through this heating process, the 
liquid within the tank evaporates while the salt precipitates out.  Before being pumped into the  
tank, the wastewater is pretreated through a Dissolved Air Floatation unit.  The evaporator is 
designed to process up to between 20,000 and 25,000 gallons of salt-brine wastewater per day.  
JBS-Swift Beef anticipated using this new equipment five-to-seven days a week, processing 5.2 
million gallons of salt-brine wastewater per year.  By the end of 2017, JBS-Swift Beef was able 
to use the evaporator to manage the salt-brine wastewater, however, it was not used in 2018—
from January through December 2018, JBS-Swift Beef managed the hides-processing 
wastewater by sending it to the WWTP.  In 2019, JBS-Swift Beef has been using the salt 
evaporator more regularly in an attempt to comply with its Clean Water Act permit.    
 

The Plant has a Clean Air Act construction permit (Permit No. 95WE757) that covers 
emissions from the entire Plant and its multiple emission points.  With the salt evaporator 
coming online, JBS-Swift Beef applied to add the evaporator to the Air Permit on February 2, 
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2015, because it was a new emission point at the Plant (Emission Point 20).  On July 20, 2015, 
APCD issued JBS-Swift Beef an Air Permit modification for the evaporator, addressing NOx 
and CO emissions from the evaporator’s fuel combustion process, which were calculated using 
the AP-42 emission factors for small boilers.  There was no public comment on this Air Permit 
modification.   

 
The Air Permit includes terms that required JBS-Swift Beef to provide APCD certain 

information related to the new salt evaporator.  The company was supposed to notify APCD 
when evaporator operations began, develop an operations and maintenance plan for the salt 
evaporator, provide details about the new equipment, certify to the APCD the company’s 
compliance with the Air Permit’s terms, and comply with limits on fuel consumption and 
emission limits.   
 

The Air Permit also contains terms and conditions that require JBS-Swift Beef to assess 
the organic compound content of the wastewater and, if organic compounds are found, seek a 
permit modification that addresses VOC emissions from the salt evaporator.  It is 
slaughterhouse-industry practice to use chemicals to disinfect and sanitize post-harvest animal 
carcasses, eliminating or curtailing the growth of pathogens, like E. coli and salmonella.  The 
chemicals JBS-Swift Beef uses for this purpose contain organic compounds that are absorbed 
into the hides. 

 
At the time APCD issued the Air Permit modification, the salt evaporator did not include 

any emission controls for NOx and CO because such emissions did not cause the Plant to exceed 
relevant thresholds.  But because of concern over particular matter (PM) emissions, which had 
not previously been considered when the Air Permit modification was issued, JBS-Swift Beef 
purchased and installed a wet scrubber in 2017.  In July 2018, JBS-Swift Beef applied for 
another permit modification to add the newly installed scrubber and account for PM emissions.  
That permit application is currently pending with the APCD and has not been issued, in part 
because JBS-Swift Beef has not supplied required information.  

 
III. JBS-SWIFT BEEF’S CLEAN AIR ACT VIOLATIONS—VIOLATIONS OF THE 

2015 AIR PERMIT 
 
JBS-Swift Beef is violating the following terms of the 2015 Air Permit as it applies to the 

salt evaporator and Emission Point 20.   
 
1. Notice of Startup:  Paragraph 1 of the Air Permit requires JBS-Swift Beef to 

submit a Notice of Startup to the APCD.  The submission must be made within 
15 days of commencing operations of the salt evaporator.   
 
JBS-Swift Beef has not submitted the requirement Notice of Startup despite 
beginning to operate the salt evaporator more than fifteen days ago.  This 
permit requirement is rooted in Regulation 3, Part B, Section III.G.1 and 
included in the SIP approved by EPA. 40 C.F.R. § 52.320(c). 
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2. Initial Compliance Testing: Paragraphs 4 and 20 of the Air Permit require JBS-

Swift Beef to conduct initial compliance testing within 180 days of operating 
the salt evaporator and submit the results to the APCD.  JBS-Swift Beef is 
required to sample (a) the salty wastewater leaving the DAF once a month for 
the first three months of operations and (b) the salt leaving the salt evaporator.  
The samples shall be analyzed for organic content concentration using 
applicable EPA methodologies.  Based on the results of this testing, JBS-Swift 
Beef shall comply with APEN and permit modification requirements.     

 
It has been over six months since JBS-Swift Beef began operating the salt 
evaporator and JBS-Swift Beef has not conducted the testing and sampling and 
has not submitted the results.  This permit requirement is rooted in Regulation 
3, Part B, Section III.E and included in the SIP approved by EPA. 40 C.F.R. § 
52.320(c). 

 
3. Operating and Maintenance Plan Development:  Paragraphs 5 and 19 of the Air 

Permit mandate that JBS-Swift Beef prepare and submit to the APCD a revised 
operations and maintenance (O&M) plan.  O&M plan submission was due 180 
days after commencing operations of the salt evaporator.  The O&M must 
detail how JBS-Swift Beef intends to comply with the Air Permit and its terms 
and conditions.   

  
JBS-Swift Beef has not submitted the required O&M plan to APCD even 
though the salt evaporator began operations more than 180 days ago.  This 
permit requirement is rooted in Regulation 3, Part B, Section III.E and included 
in the SIP approved by EPA. 40 C.F.R. § 52.320(c). 
  

4. Salt Evaporator Specifications:  Paragraph 7 of the Air Permit requires JBS-
Swift Beef to provide APCD with the model number and serial number for 
Emission Point 20.  This information was required within 180 days of 
commencing operations of the salt evaporator. 
 
JBS-Swift Beef provided the required information for the scrubber in its 
application for an Air Permit modification in July 2018, but has not done so for 
the salt evaporator despite beginning operating the evaporator more than 180 
days ago.  This permit requirement is rooted in Regulation 3, Part B, Section 
III.E and included in the SIP approved by EPA. 40 C.F.R. § 52.320(c). 
 

5. Self Certification: Paragraph 2 of the Air Permit obligates JBS-Swift Beef, 
within 180 days commencing operations of the salt evaporator, to demonstrate 
and certify to APCD that it has complied with terms and conditions specific to 
Emission Point 20.   
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JBS-Swift Beef has not demonstrated compliance to APCD or met the self-
certification requirement.  JBS-Swift Beef began operating the salt evaporator 
more than 180 days ago.  This permit requirement is rooted in Regulation 3, 
Part B, Section III.G.2 and included in the SIP approved by EPA. 40 C.F.R. § 
52.320(c). 

 
6. Fuel Consumption Limits: Paragraph 11 of the Air Permit sets forth fuel 

consumption rate limits (both annual and monthly) for all emission points at the 
Plant.  JBS-Swift Beef must comply with fuel consumption rates (1,557,276 
MMbtu/year and 132,261.8 MMbtu/month) for specific emissions points that 
include Emission Point 20 (the salt evaporator).  Compliance with these 
consumption rates must be demonstrated to the APCD through the self-
certification process.  
 
JBS-Swift Beef did not provide actual fuel consumption for each of the first 12 
months after commencing operations at the salt evaporator.  In March 2019, 
JBS-Swift Beef informed the state that the salt evaporator has a maximum 
firing rate of 9.9 MMbtu per hour, but has not demonstrated compliance with 
the Air Permit’s fuel consumption limits.  This permit requirement is rooted in 
Regulation 3, Part B, Section II.A.4 and included in the SIP approved by EPA. 
40 C.F.R. § 52.320(c).  
 

7. Emission Limits: Paragraph 9 of the Air Permit sets forth emission limits for 
criteria pollutants released from the salt evaporator as well as other emissions 
points at the Plant.  These limits are expressed on a monthly and annual basis. 
For the first 12 months of operating the salt evaporator and scrubber (Emission 
Point 20), JBS-Swift Beef must comply with both the monthly and annual 
limits for all criteria pollutants and the annual rate thereafter.  Compliance with 
these emission limits must be demonstrated to the APCD through the self-
certification process, which was due within 180 days of commencing 
operations of the salt evaporator.    
 
JBS-Swift Beef has not certified compliance with the emission limits for each 
of the first 12 months of operating the salt evaporator or the annual emission 
limits.  This permit requirement is rooted in Regulation 3, Part B, Section 
II.A.4 and included in the SIP approved by EPA. 40 C.F.R. § 52.320(c).   

 
 JBS-Swift Beef’s violations of the Air Permit, as described above, are actionable under 
the CAA’s citizen suit provision. 42 U.S.C. § 7604(a)(1); see 42 U.S.C. § 7604(f) (defining 
“emission standard or limitation”).   
 
IV. RELIEF TO BE REQUESTED 
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 To remedy these violations, we intend to ask that the court order JBS-Swift Beef to pay 
civil penalties, up to the amount authorized by Clean Air Act.  JBS-Swift Beef is liable for 
violations occurring each day these violations continue.  Penalties are calculated based on 
statutory limits and factors. See 42 U.S.C. § 7413(e); 40 C.F.R. § 19.4 (Adjustment of Civil 
Monetary Penalties for Inflation).   
 

We will also seek declarative relief, confirming that the JBS-Swift Beef has violated and 
continues to violate the Clean Air Act.  We will seek injunctive relief that requires the JBS-Swift 
Beef to take all actions necessary to comply with the Air Permit and Clean Air Act.  Lastly, we 
intend to seek the recovery of costs, including attorney and expert fees, as authorized by the 
CAA.  
 
V. PARTIES GIVING NOTICE 
 

The parties giving notice, including their full names, addresses and telephone numbers, 
are as follows: 
 
Center for Biological Diversity 
Attn: Michael Saul 
1536 Wynkoop St., Ste. 421 
Denver, Colorado 80202 
(303) 915-8308 
 
Food & Water Watch 
Attn: Tyler Van Kirk 
1801 N. Williams St., Ste. 400 
Denver, Colorado 80218 
(720) 372-1389 
 

Center for Biological Diversity is a national non-profit, 501(c)(3) organization with 
multiple offices and thousands of members in Colorado.   The Center has programs and 
campaigns that address the plight of imperiled species in this country, including the extensive 
harms caused by animal agriculture on biodiversity, public health, and sustainable food systems.  
Through its efforts, the Center has developed outreach, education, and policy materials on the 
negative effects of industrial agricultural systems on our environment, including as a result of 
pesticide use, greenhouse gas emissions, and air and water pollution from animal waste. 
 

Food & Water Watch is a national nonprofit organization that champions healthy food 
and clean water for all by standing up to corporations that put profits before people and by 
advocating for a democracy that improves people’s lives and protects the environment.  FWW 
maintains an office in Denver and has more than 12,000 members in Colorado.  Factory farming 
is one of FWW’s priority issues, and FWW is engaged in numerous campaigns to hold the 
factory farm industry—including corporate slaughter facilities—accountable for its adverse 
impacts on rural communities and the environment.  Through grassroots organizing, policy 
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advocacy, research, communications and litigation, FWW works to increase transparency about 
the factory farm industry’s harmful impacts, reduce meat companies’ pollution of our air and 
waterways, and strengthen public and government oversight of livestock production.  
 
 Counsel for Center for Biological Diversity and Food and Water Watch has been retained 
and their contact information is:  
 
Neil Levine 
nlevine@publicjustice.org 
(303) 455-0604 
Brent Newell 
bnewell@publicjustice.org 
(510) 622-8209 
Public Justice 
4404 Alcott Street 
Denver, Colorado 80211 
 
Hannah Connor 
Center for Biological Diversity 
P.O. Box 2155 
St. Petersburg, Florida 33731 
(202) 681-1676 
hconnor@biologicaldiversity.org 

 
Tarah Heinzen 
Food & Water Watch 
2009 NE Alberta St. Ste. 207 
Portland, OR 97211 
(202) 683-2457 
theinzen@fwwatch.org 
 

Please contact Neil Levine at Public Justice if you would like to discuss the content of 
this letter. 
 

*** 
 

Center for Biological Diversity and Food & Water Watch believe that this letter provides 
JBS-Swift Beef with sufficient information about the alleged violations and ways to ensure 
compliance with the Clean Air Act and the Air Permit.  They intend to file a citizen suit under 
the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7604(a), against JBS-Swift Beef for the above-referenced violations upon 
the expiration of the 60-day notice period.  Additional information, including information not yet 
available to the Center for Biological Diversity and Food & Water Watch, may reveal additional 
violations, which this letter intends to cover.    
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These organizations would welcome the opportunity to discuss this matter with you and 
potentially resolve any disputes so as to avoid time-intensive and resource-consuming litigation.  
Please contact us promptly if you believe we do not understand facts about the Plant and the 
alleged violations correctly or wish to discuss effective remedies for the violations noted in this 
letter.  We do not intend to delay the filing of a complaint in federal court if discussions are 
continuing at the conclusion of the 60-day period.  Thank you.  
 
 
 

Sincerely, 
 
/s/ Neil Levine 

 
       Neil Levine 

Brent Newell 
       Public Justice 
 
       Hannah Connor 

Center for Biological Diversity 
 
Tarah Heinzen 
Food & Water Watch 

 
cc: 
 
Administrator Andrew Wheeler  
Environmental Protection Agency 
Ariel Rios Building 
1200 Pennsylvania Ave., NW 
Mail Code 1101A 
Washington, D.C. 20460 
 
Regional Administrator Gregory Sopkin 
Environmental Protection Agency Region 8 
1595 Wynkoop Street 
Mail Code 8RA 
Denver, CO 80202-1129 
 
U.S. Attorney General 
U.S. Department of Justice 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, DC 20530-0001 
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Jill Hunsacker Ryan 
Executive Director 
Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment 
4300 Cherry Creek Drive South 
Denver, CO 80246 
 
Corporation Services Co. 
Registered Agent for JBS USA and JBS-Swift Beef 
1900 West Littleton Blvd. 
Littleton, Colorado 80120 


